

# Measuring the Gaps

Collecting Data to Drive Improvements in Health Care Disparities

Lesley Russell December 2010



## Measuring the Gaps

Collecting Data to Drive Improvements in Health Care Disparities

Lesley Russell December 2010

## Contents

- 1 Introduction and summary
- 4 ACA requirements for the collection of data on racial and ethnic disparities
- 5 Issues around collecting the data
  - 5 Appropriate categories for race and ethnicity
  - 6 Language data to improve services
  - 7 Scope of data collection
  - 9 Standardization and coordination of DHHS data collection efforts
  - 10 Time and cost constraints
  - 10 Alignment with national health priorities
  - 12 Provider and patient concerns and perceptions
- 14 What else is needed
- 15 Conclusion
- 17 Appendix: OMB requirements for the collection of racial and ethnic data<sup>47</sup>
  - 18 Other data collection requirements
- 19 Endnotes
- 21 About the author

## Introduction and summary

There are currently large and worrisome health disparities across the United States in access to quality health care between racial and ethnic minority groups and white Americans. In some cases these disparities have existed for a long time and are getting worse.<sup>1</sup>

Collecting and analyzing valid and reliable data regarding these disparities provides the building blocks for identifying differences in care and developing targeted interventions to improve the quality of care delivered to specific population groups—regardless of whether those population groups are identified by geography, disability, socioeconomic status, race, or ethnicity.

The drive toward quality care for all Americans serves to highlight the areas where there is inequity not just in quality but in access and in more subtle measures such as cultural and linguistic concordance. However, while there is a growing consensus that integrating the reduction of disparities into the quality of care is a coherent and efficient approach to redesigning the health care system—an approach that focuses on the patient and is blind to their race or ethnicity—it cannot be assumed that this will necessarily result in the elimination in health care disparities.<sup>2</sup> Race-specific strategies may be necessary to address some types of disparities.

The Affordable Care Act expands the current requirements for the collection and analysis of health care disparities data. The new health reform law recognizes that greater efforts are needed to quantify racial and ethnic disparities in health care, to investigate their causes and impacts, and to implement and evaluate interventions to address them. There are a significant number of provisions in ACA that require the collection and analysis of data on racial and ethnic health care disparities. These data will be critical for guiding both government policy and the programs and practices of individual health care institutions and providers.

It is important that the collection of data on racial and ethnic heath care disparities is not merely confined to sample sets but involves all health care providers as willing participants in the effort. The importance is twofold: first, the larger the data

sets, the more reliable the information; second, health care providers who have data from their own institutions and practices are more likely to look at disparities in care, design targeted programs to improve quality of care, and provide patient-centered care.

It is also critical to ensure that data collected by different agencies of the Department of Health and Human Services are collected with sufficient uniformity and to the same standards so that they can be utilized effectively across all sectors and by all stakeholders.

The Affordable Care Act will help drive efforts to understand and address the current racial and ethnic disparities in health care. To ensure that these new requirements are maximally effective, their implementation will need to address a number of issues:

- Design of questions that will allow patients to self-identify their race and ethnicity accurately and without resistance
- Provision of a standard approach for rolling up these individual responses into the Office of Management and Budget categories for analytical and reporting purposes
- Collection of information about spoken English-language proficiency, the preferred language for health-related encounters information, the language spoken by the patient at home, and the language in which the patient prefers to receive written materials
- Standardization of the way data on racial and ethnic disparities are collected across the various agencies of the Department of Health and Human Services and the development and promulgation of best practices in this regard
- Requirements and incentives to ensure that all health insurance plans and providers, regardless of whether they receive federal funding, collect, use, and share data on racial and ethnic disparities to agreed standards and methodologies
- The use of education and awareness materials to inform patients, providers, and health plans about the need for data collection on racial and ethnic disparities
- Training programs and resources, including health IT, to facilitate the collection
  of this data to the agreed standards

- More research to improve the science of evaluating interventions to reduce disparities, and the dissemination and uptake of best practice in this area
- Strong national leadership and coordination of efforts

A recent report from the Institute of Medicine concludes that although the annual National Health Disparities Report and the companion National Healthcare Quality Report have made valuable contributions in raising awareness and identifying gaps in quality and equity in the nation's health care, the reports could be improved and could be more influential in promoting improvements in the health care system.3

# ACA requirements for the collection of data on racial and ethnic disparities

Section 4302 (Understanding health disparities; data collection and analysis) of ACA amends the Public Health Service Act to expand the current requirements for the collection and analysis of health disparities data. All federally funded health programs and population surveys will be required by 2013 to collect and report data on race, ethnicity, primary language, and other indicators of disparity the secretary of health and human services identifies as appropriate. This provision also strengthens data collecting and reporting mechanisms in Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program, bringing them up to the same standards as for Medicare.

The secretary is required to ensure that these data are analyzed to detect and monitor trends in health disparities and disseminate this information to the relevant federal agencies and to the public. The Office of Management and Budget categories of race and ethnicity will be the minimum standard (see Appendix), and the use of oversampling is authorized to produce statistically reliable estimates.

## Issues around collecting the data

Improvements in data collection and reporting have the potential to raise public awareness about racial and ethnic health care disparities and drive new evidence-based initiatives that are effectively targeted. There are some barriers, however, that will hinder implementation efforts and limit the usefulness of the data collected unless addressed.

Let's examine each of these barriers.

#### Appropriate categories for race and ethnicity

The OMB race and ethnicity categories the federal government uses and endorses are large and relatively vague. There is considerable heterogeneity within each of the defined groups and this often presents problems when people are asked to self-identify or are identified by others.

People of Middle Eastern or Arab ancestry, for example, are often categorized as "white" or "Caucasian" although this may not be how they view themselves.<sup>4</sup> The "Asian American," "Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander," and "Latino" or "Hispanic" categories homogenize immense heterogeneity among various racial and ethnic groups.

Ethnicity in the case of Hispanics refers to the array of values, cultural norms, and behaviors that the different subgroups share, but people of this ethnicity may belong to a variety of racial groups. People from the Philippines, Japan, Vietnam, Laos, and China have significant differences in key health indicators, access to health care services, health beliefs, and behaviors, but are grouped together under the "Asian" category. Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander data is included in the "Asian" category in many cases, thus compounding the heterogeneity. <sup>5</sup> An increasing number of Americans identify as multiracial. <sup>6</sup>

While analyses based on the OMB categories can reveal important disparities in care, these categories are often not sufficiently descriptive to effectively target interventions. Using a very granular set of categories, however, also poses difficulties in terms of the statistical significance of a population analysis. In large part the level of granularity of the data collected should be a function of what the data will be used for, and it is possible to aggregate smaller categories in larger ones when required for analytical purposes.

Self-identification is generally considered the gold standard for categorizing people by race and ethnicity.<sup>7</sup> Thus, the key issue is to ensure that participation and usability are factored into the design, development, and testing of questions so that patients (and providers where necessary) can understand and respond accurately and without resistance.

The Institute of Medicine has outlined requirements for standardization of race, ethnicity, and language data for health care quality improvement. A paper published several years ago on this topic suggested that a standard method is needed to allow patients to self-identify their race, ethnicity, and language using their own words rather than a pre-established list of categories. The researchers also recommend a standard approach for rolling up granular responses to the OMB categories for analytical and reporting purposes.

#### Language data to improve services

More than 46 million people in the United States do not speak English as their primary language. More than 21 million speak English less than "very well" and the proportion of the population that speaks a language other than English at home is increasing. <sup>10</sup> Language barriers have a major impact on both the quality and the costs of health care. Patients with limited English-language proficiency encounter significant disparities in access to health care and are at increased risk of experiencing medical errors. <sup>11</sup>

All federal programs and those receiving assistance from the federal government must take reasonable steps to ensure that persons who have limited English proficiency have meaningful access to the programs, services, and information that those entities provide. The DHHS Office of Minority Health issues standards on culturally and linguistically appropriate services in health care, referred to as CLAS. <sup>12</sup> These standards are designed to contribute to the elimination of health disparities by addressing the linguistic and cultural needs of patients in an appropriate manner. Clearly the language needs (and therefore the services such as translators that are required) will vary from region to region, in some cases from provider to provider.

Health care service providers need to know two pieces of information to best serve the language needs of their patients: how well the patient speaks English, and the patient's preferred language for talking about his or her health. The Institute of Medicine proposes assessing the matter with two questions: one asking whether a person rates his or her ability to speak English as less than "very well," and a second one to determine the language the patient prefers to use during health care encounters. The IOM also recommends that where possible and applicable, health care providers should collect information on the language the patient speaks at home and the language in which the patient prefers to receive written materials.13

It will also be important that there are methodologies developed for evaluating the effectiveness of addressing language and cultural needs in improving health outcomes and the quality of care. These methodologies should also consider the costs involved in providing language services and the cost-savings that such services can achieve.

#### Scope of data collection

ACA expands the scope of data collection and reporting requirements to all federally funded programs, and makes the Medicaid and CHIP programs subject to the same reporting requirements as Medicare.

Regardless of whether they receive federal funding or not, however, hospitals, community health centers, physician practices, health plans, and health care researchers all have a role to play in working with government to gather and analyze data.

Incentives are particularly needed to encourage health insurance plans to collect data on racial and ethnic disparities and to do this to agreed standards and methodologies so that the data can be used to address disparities and, ideally, shared with government and researchers. The development of these standards and methodologies should involve the relevant community stakeholders.

Health plans currently serving Medicare and Medicaid enrollees commonly obtain information on the race and ethnicity of beneficiary members from federal and state governments. This data has been described as containing only limited distinctions, however, and the quality and completeness of Medicaid data vary by state. 14

Racial and ethnic data on commercially insured enrollees are not typically available from purchasers such as employers, so health plans must collect their own data.

A recent national survey indicates that only half of health plans attempt to collect this data. 15 Sometimes this is inferred from postcodes and surnames, although this method is neither desirable nor particularly accurate. Even those plans with the most success in using direct methods have race and ethnicity data on only about 30 percent of their members.<sup>16</sup>

There are generally no legal barriers against collecting racial and ethnic data, despite often-voiced concerns from health plans.<sup>17</sup> There is no federal prohibition and while six states have some restrictions about collecting data, these are limited, and apply only to the collection of such data as part of an application process. Data can, for example, be collected voluntarily or as part of a disease management program.

Most of the work that is done in this area by insurance funds is driven by the National Health Plan Collaborative. This was established in December 2004 and brings together 11 major health insurance companies, in partnership with organizations from the public and private sectors, including the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, to identify ways to improve the quality of health care for racially and ethnically diverse populations.<sup>18</sup>

Most physicians do not collect data on their patients' race and ethnic group. Collection is uncommon even in large group practices. 19 Practices that do collect such data almost never use them to identify and address disparities or, for that matter, for any other clinically relevant purposes.<sup>20</sup>

When queried, physicians variously thought that the collection of data on race and ethnic group would be expensive or time-consuming. Some voiced concerns about privacy, perceived legal barriers, or the discomfort of patients and staff in talking about race. But the most common and strongest objection to the routine collection of these data was that physicians saw no reason to do so, and indeed thought that knowing a patient's race and ethnic group is, or should be, clinically irrelevant.<sup>21</sup>

It is to be hoped that this attitude will change with increased education and awareness, along with expanded requirements for such data collection and utilization. For example, within-practice interventions targeting areas of disparities can have an overall positive effect on quality and thus contribute to increased reimbursement rates under pay-for- performance programs.<sup>22</sup>

#### Standardization and coordination of DHHS data collection efforts

The key focus of this paper is around the provisions in ACA that increase the current requirements on HHS to collect racial and ethnic health care disparities data from the programs, activities, and surveys that it administers and funds. Some of this is currently reported back to HHS from health providers through initiatives that include the Medical Expenditure Survey, Hospital Compare, the Physician Quality Reporting Initiative, and Uniform Data System Reporting from Federally Qualified Health Centers.

In addition HHS does much original data collection through the National Center for Health Statistics and the surveillance functions of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. While there is some reporting on Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program, ACA requires that data collecting and reporting mechanisms from the states for these programs are brought up to the same standards as for Medicare.

With a variety of data collection systems operating through several different HHS agencies, it will be critical to ensure that there are sufficient common standards and uniformity in how the data is collected to enable the sharing of data across agencies, as appropriate. There is clearly a leadership role here for the Office of Minority Health, which is reauthorized and expanded in ACA.<sup>23</sup>

The report of a Study Panel on Medicare and Disparities convened by the National Academy of Social Insurance concluded that Medicare is obligated to take the lead in reducing disparities—both for its beneficiaries and throughout the health system.<sup>24</sup> However, the study panel also found that Medicare's efforts in this regard needed strengthening and made 17 recommendations to do this. To the extent that these recommendations have not yet been fully implemented, doing this should now become an urgent priority.

A recent report from the IoM provides guidance for standardization of Medicaid and CHIP data.<sup>25</sup> Efforts are underway in the Center for Medicaid and State Operations to enhance states' reporting of Medicaid and CHIP data. The CMSO has established an intra-agency, private, and public sector collaboration with states, various community-based organizations, stakeholders, and underserved communities interested in addressing health disparities. Information about best practices in health care disparities in Medicaid and CHIP is disseminated to the

forum and external organizations.<sup>26</sup> This work will need to be extended, and some states may require technical assistance to help them get these efforts up to the required standards.

#### Time and cost constraints

The implementation of any new data collection process will require effort. Addressing practical issues such as how and when to ask, what categories to use, how to code the data, and how to address common concerns, however, need not entail great expense. Free training tools are available to help providers implement new practices, such as that provided by the Health Research and Educational Trust, an affiliate of the American Hospital Association.<sup>27</sup>

A major barrier to implementing improved data collection for some providers will be the need to reprogram their IT systems. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act provides \$19 billion for health information systems and the "use of electronic systems to ensure the comprehensive collection of patient demographic data." The "meaningful use" guidelines for e-health systems, which will determine whether providers, including physicians and hospitals, qualify for federal incentive payments, include the use of tools to collect patient demographic data.

The IOM has recommended that when awarding incentive payments, the CMS and others sponsoring payment incentive programs should take into account collection of the recommended data on race, ethnicity, granular ethnicity, and language need so these data can be used to identify and address disparities in care.<sup>28</sup> A variety of such systems are currently in place; some provide incentives for specific structural features such as e-health records and others for the collection and reporting of quality data. As these systems evolve and respond to the implementation of the provisions of ACA, they can incorporate the collection and use of data on race, ethnicity, and language for incentive payments linked to quality improvement or the achievement of specific goals for reducing disparities.

#### Alignment with national health priorities

Healthy People 2020, just released, establishes a set of Leading Health Indicators—goals and objectives with 10-year targets—to measure the health of the nation.<sup>29</sup> These indicators reflect the major health concerns in the United States at the beginning of the 21st century. They were selected on the basis of their ability to motivate action, the availability of data to measure progress, and their importance as public health issues.<sup>30</sup>

Each indicator has a number of objectives and sub-objectives. In Healthy People 2010 there were 498 population-based objectives and sub-objectives for which disparities among populations could be measured. But data are not available for all populations for each objective and sub-objective and tracking data is not always available to assess changes over time; only 195 objectives and sub-objectives have trend data for racial and ethnic groups.<sup>31</sup>

| Racial or ethnic group                      | Number of Healthy People 2010 objectives and sub-<br>objectives for which data are collected |
|---|--|
| Hispanic                                    | 330  |
| Black, non-Hispanic                         | 356  |
| White, non-Hispanic                         | 355  |
| American Indian/Alaska Native               | 155  |
| Asian                                       | 107  |
| Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islanders | 43   |
| Combined Asian/Pacific Islander             | 76   |
| Two or more races                           | 82   |

The Healthy People 2010 objectives encompass the Initiative to Eliminate Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health, introduced by President Bill Clinton in 1998. The initiative focused on closing the gaps in health outcomes, particularly racial and ethnic disparities in diabetes, AIDS, heart disease, infant mortality, cancer screening and management, and immunizations. We can only assess progress against these goals, now more than a decade old, if the data are collected and evaluated regularly.

The data that are made publicly available through the annual National Healthcare Disparities Report do not allow data for key indicators such as immunizations (by vaccine) and cancer screening (by cancer) to be tracked by racial and ethnic group across the years. This means that tracking the success of initiatives to improve uptake of services and health outcomes over time is made more difficult.

#### Provider and patient concerns and perceptions

Concerns, real and imagined, from providers and patients can hinder the collection of racial and ethnic data. Providers, especially clinicians, are concerned about undermining the quality of patient-provider relationships. Many health plans are concerned that their ability to serve minority patients could be hampered if these population groups were to consider data collection efforts as an attempt to ration care or somehow tailor care in ways that are detrimental.<sup>32</sup>

It is clearly critical that systems are in place to ensure that data are handled sensitively and properly to maintain patients' privacy and community trust.

While patients may have some perceptions about intrusion and concerns about the protection of privacy, most patients think health care providers should collect information about race and ethnicity. Many feel uncomfortable giving this information, however, especially those from minority groups. There is evidence that health care providers can increase patients' comfort levels by telling them this will be used to monitor quality of care. Much of patients' discomfort arises from fears that this information could be used to discriminate against patients, with African Americans most concerned about this.<sup>33</sup>

Some of these fears may be well-founded, given that racial discrimination has figured prominently in the history of American medicine.<sup>34</sup> Evidence suggests that bias, prejudice, and stereotyping on the part of providers may contribute to health care disparities.<sup>35</sup>

Efforts to improve the racial diversity and cultural sensitivity training of the health care workforce will help address patients' perceptions and concerns in this area.

#### Education and awareness about the need to address disparities

The IOM report makes the point that patients, administration staff, and health professionals need greater understanding about how the collection of race, ethnicity, and language data can help improve the quality of care delivered to patients.<sup>36</sup>

Efforts to raise the public's awareness of racial and ethnic health care disparities have achieved only modest success. Nearly 60 percent of people surveyed in 2006 believed African Americans received the same quality of care as whites, and 50 percent believed Latinos received the same quality care as whites—similar to findings in a 1999 survey.<sup>37</sup>

In contrast to the general public's continued lack of awareness, the level of awareness among physicians has risen sharply in recent years, presumably because of education efforts by government, medical colleges, and professional bodies. The majority—69 percent—of physicians said in 2002 that the health care system "rarely or never" treated people from minority groups unfairly. Less than a quarter—24 percent—of physicians in 2005 disagreed with the statement "minority patients generally receive lower quality care than white patients."  $^{38}$ 

## What else is needed

There are several areas where additional data could contribute both to a better understanding of the causes of racial and ethnic health care disparities and to more effective interventions.

#### These include:

- Measures of patients' socioeconomic status such as income or education attained are useful to understand mediators of racial and ethnic disparities.<sup>39</sup> While it is possible to use geographic locators such as zip code to estimate socioeconomic status through geocoding, these methods are less precise than individual-level data.40
- Patients' assessments of aspects of their care, including patient-provider communications, perceived biases and discrimination, and shared decision-making. A report from the Commonwealth Fund in 2006 made a number of recommendations for research in these areas that remain valid.41
- Improved measures of referral practices and timeliness of access to care, especially in those aspects of care where these issues are crucial, such as antenatal care, HIV infection, and a suspected diagnosis of cancer.
- A more widespread adoption of community-based participatory research approaches to improving health and reducing health disparities. 42 While community participation in data collection is increasingly seen, less common is community participation in data analysis, the interpretation of findings, and the development and implementation of programs.

## Conclusion

Defining and measuring health care disparities is a prerequisite for addressing the problems. Defining and measuring these disparities, however, requires navigating the intersections of health and medicine with poverty, race, and geography. This is a task fraught with difficulty and one that inevitably strays beyond the boundaries of health care.

It requires consensus among governments, health insurers, health providers, and consumers about the need to collect data; how this will be done in ways that are consistent across jurisdictions and address the needs and concerns of all stakeholders; and how the data will be analyzed, publicized, and used to close the gap on health care disparities.

Efforts to address disparities must acknowledge the significant heterogeneity within each of the federally defined racial and ethnic groups, and balance requirements for sufficient granularity to highlight local needs with the need for sufficiently robust statistical significance to drive population-based policies and programs.

Data are only useful when they become information and information is only valuable when it is used. 43 Researchers at Johns Hopkins University have stressed the need to improve the science of evaluating interventions to reduce disparities.<sup>44</sup> The key question is what actually works for reducing racial and ethnic disparities in health care. The answers range from individual provider and patient interventions to improving the organization of health care and changing community behaviors. Despite an accumulating body of literature addressing racial and ethnic disparities in health care, there have been few published studies of interventions that have been successful in eliminating these disparities.

Some of these interventions will involve generic quality improvement approaches; others will be culturally tailored for targeted subpopulations. The relative effectiveness of the population-based general performance incentives in reducing disparities needs to be compared with that of more specific incentives.

It is imperative that implementation of the increased reporting requirements of ACA is accompanied by efforts to increase awareness of the importance and value of this data, by requirements that will protect patients' sensibilities around race and ethnicity, by strong confidentiality provisions, and by needed guidelines and resources, including health IT resources.

Strong leadership and coordination of the data collection and utilization efforts will be critical to the efforts to eliminate health care disparities. It is assumed that the Office of Minority Health, which is reauthorized and expanded in ACA, will play a key role in this regard.<sup>45</sup> The profile for minority health issues is also boosted by the transition of the National Center on Minority Health and Health Disparities to the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities.  $^{\rm 46}$ 

## Appendix: OMB requirements for the collection of racial and ethnic data<sup>47</sup>

In 1997, the Office of Management and Budget released the revised standards for the collection of race and ethnicity known as Statistical Directive 15 and required federal agencies to comply with these by January 2003. These new standards included self-identification as the preferred data collection method and the ability to report multiple races for an individual. These standards were further revised in 2003.

Development of these data standards stemmed in large measure from the enforcement of civil rights laws. Data were needed to monitor equal access in housing, education, employment, and other areas for populations that historically had experienced discrimination and differential treatment because of their race or ethnicity. The categories thus represent a social-political construct designed for collecting data on the race and ethnicity of broad population groups in the United States.

The minimum race categories for the 1997 OMB standards for collecting data on race and ethnicity are: American Indian or Alaska Native; Asian; Black or African American; Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander; White. The minimum ethnicity categories are: Hispanic or Latino; not Hispanic or Latino. The OMB standards allow for additional race categories to be collected, although they must be additive (i.e., non-overlapping subcategories) within the minimum set of race categories. Finally, the respondent instructions specify "Mark (X) one or more races" to indicate what this person considers himself or herself to be, which allows for multiple-race responses.

The 2003 revision of the standards for vital certificates recommends the following race and ethnicity categories, which are in principle the same as those used for the 2000 and 2010 decennial censuses:

#### 1. Hispanic Origin

- No, not Spanish/Hispanic/Latino
- Yes, Mexican, Mexican American, Chicano
- Yes, Puerto Rican
- Yes, Cuban
- Yes, other Spanish/Hispanic/Latino (with space to write in group)

#### 2. Race

- White - Vietnamese

- Black or African American - Other Asian (with space to write in

- American Indian or Alaska Native race)

(with space to write in principal - Native Hawaiian

- Guamanian or Chamorro tribe)

- Asian Indian - Samoan

- Chinese - Other Pacific Islander (write in

- Filipino race)

- Japanese - Other (write in race)

- Korean

The current format allows for multiple-race reporting for an individual, but not multiple ethnicities.

There is an issue of comparability between data based on the 1997 race and ethnicity categories and the more detailed 2003 categories. The National Center for Health Statistics, with the help of the Census Bureau, has made efforts to estimate the resulting respondent differences and mitigate the comparability issues. 48

#### Other data collection requirements

For birth certificates, currently the race of the newborn is not collected and, for reporting purposes, it is based on the race of the mother, which she is to self-report.

For death certificates, it is usually the responsibility of the funeral director to elicit race and ethnicity of the decedent from a family member or responsible party.

### Endnotes

- 1 "National Healthcare Disparities Report, 2009: Key Themes and Highlights," available at http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/nhdr09/Key.htm.
- 2 "Why Collect Race, Ethnicity, and Primary Language?", available at http://hretdisparities.org/WhyCMaki-4155.php.
- 3 Institute of Medicine, "Future Directions for the National Healthcare Quality and Disparities Reports," Public release, April 14, 2010, available at http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Report%20Files/2010/ Future-Directions-for-the-National-Healthcare-Quality-and-Disparities-Reports/Future%20Directions%20-%20Public%20Release.pdf.
- 4 Romana Hasnain-Wynia and David W. Baker, "Obtaining Data on Patient Race, Ethnicity, and Primary Language in Health Care Organizations: Current Challenges and Proposed Solutions," Health Services Research 41 (4) (2006): 1501-1517, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1797091/pdf/hesr0041-1501.pdf.
- 5 See, for example, the National Healthcare Disparities Reports.
- 6 Haya El Nasser, "Mulitracial no longer boxed in by the Census," USA Today, March 15, 2010, available at http://www.usatoday.com/news/ nation/census/2010-03-02-census-multi-race\_N.htm.
- 7 Nicole Lurie and Allen Fremont, "Looking Forward: Cross-cutting Issues in the Collection and Use of Racial/Ethnic Data," Health Services Research 41 (4) (2006): 1519-1533, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1797081/.
- 8 Institute of Medicine, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement," Report brief, August 2009, available at http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Report%20 Files/2009/RaceEthnicityData/Race%20Ethnicity%20report%20 brief%20FINAL%20for%20web.pdf
- 9 Hasnain-Wynia and Baker, "Obtaining Data on Patient Race, Ethnicity, and Primary Language in Health Care Organizations."
- 10 Elizabeth A. Jacobs and others, "Overcoming Language Barriers in Health Care: Costs and Benefits of Interpreter Services," American Journal of Public Health 94 (5) (2004): 866-869, available at http:// ajph.aphapublications.org/cgi/content/full/94/5/866; Bureau of the Census, Language Use in the United States: 2007 (Department of Commerce, 2010), available at http://www.census.gov/prod/2010pubs/ acs-12.pdf.
- 11 Institute of Medicine, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data."
- 12 Office of Minority Health, "National Standards for Culturally & Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS) in Health Care," available at http:// www.hhs.state.ne.us/minorityhealth/docs/CLASBrochure.pdf.
- 13 Institute of Medicine, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data."
- 14 Patricia Collins Higgins, Melanie Au, and Erin Fries Taylor, "Reducing Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care: Partnerships Between Employers and Health Plans," Policy brief, July 2009, available at http://www.mathematica-mpr.com/publications/pdfs/health/reducedisparities.pdf.
- 15 Meredith B. Rosenthal and others, "Engagement of Health Plans and Employers in Addressing Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care,"

- Medical Care Research and Review 66 (2) (2009): 219-231, available at http://mcr.sagepub.com/content/66/2/219.abstract.
- 16 "The National Health Plan Collaborative: Overview of Its Origins, Accomplishments, and Lessons Learned," available at http://www.ahrq. gov/about/evaluations/nhpceval/nhpceval4.htm.
- 17 America's Health Insurance Plans, "Tools to Address Disparities in Health: Data as Building Blocks for Change" (2005), available at http:// www.ahip.org/content/default.aspx?docid=10761.
- 18 "National Health Plan Collaborative," available at http://www.nationalhealthplancollaborative.org/.
- 19 Matthew K. Wynia, Susan L. Ivey, and Romana Hasnain-Wynia, "Collection of Data on Patients' Race and Ethnic Group by Physician Practices," New England Journal of Medicine 362 (9) (2010): 846-850, available at http://www.feinberg.northwestern.edu/ihs/centers/centerforhealthcareequity/Publications/Wynia\_NEJM.pdf.
- 20 Anne-Marie J. Audet and others, "Measure, Learn, and Improve: Physicians' Involvement in Quality Improvement," Health Affairs 24 (3) (2005): 843-853, available at http://content.healthaffairs.org/cgi/ content/full/24/3/843.
- 21 Wynia, Ivey, and Hasnain-Wynia, "Collection of Data on Patients' Race and Ethnic Group by Physician Practices."
- 22 Ibid.
- 23 "About OMH The Office of Minority Health," available at http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/templates/browse.aspx?lvl=1&lvlID=7.
- 24 Bruce C. Vladeck, Paul N. Van de Water, and June Eichner, eds., "Strengthening Medicare's Role in Reducing Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities" (Washington: National Academy of Social Insurance, 2006), available at http://www.nasi.org/research/2006/strengtheningmedicares-role-reducing-racial-ethnic-health.
- 25 Cheryl Ulmer, Bernadette McFadden, and David R. Nerenz, eds., "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data: Standardization for Health Care Quality Improvement (Washington: Institute of Medicine, 2009), available at http://books.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=12696&page=R1.
- 26 "Medicaid and CHIP Quality Practices: Health Disparities," available at https://www.cms.gov/MedicaidCHIPQualPrac/06\_Healthdisparities.
- 27 "HRET Disparities Toolkit," available at http://www.hretdisparities.org/.
- 28 Institute of Medicine, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data."
- 29 "Healthy People 2020: The Road Ahead," available at http://www. healthypeople.gov/hp2020/.
- 30 "Healthy People 2010: What Are the Leading Health Indicators?", available at http://www.healthypeople.gov/LHI/lhiwhat.htm.
- 31 "Healthy People 2010: Midcourse Review: Executive Summary: Goal 2: Eliminate Health Disparities," available at http://www.healthypeople. gov/data/midcourse/html/execsummary/Goal2.htm.

- 32 Brian D. Smedley, Adrienne Y. Stith, and Alan R. Nelson, eds., Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care (Washington: National Academies Press, 2003), available at http:// www.nap.edu/openbook.php?record\_id=10260.
- 33 David W. Baker and others, "Patients' Attitudes Toward Health Care Providers Collecting Information About Their Race and Ethnicity, Journal of General Internal Medicine 20 (10) (2005): 895-900, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1490236/.
- 34 For example, see: "Research Ethics: The Tuskegee Syphilis Study," available at http://www.tuskegee.edu/global/storv.asp?s=1207598.
- 35 Smedley, Stith, and Nelson, eds., Unequal Treatment.
- 36 Institute of Medicine, "Race, Ethnicity, and Language Data."
- 37 "Eliminating Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Health Care: What are the Options?", available at http://www.kff.org/minorityhealth/h08\_7830. cfm.
- 38 Ibid
- 39 Paula A. Braveman and others, "Socieconomic Status in Health Research," Journal of the American Medical Association 294 (22) (2005): 2879-2888, available at http://rds.epi-ucsf.org/ticr/syllabus/courses/23/2006/03/28/Lecture/readings/Socioeconomic%20Status.pdf.
- 40 Thomas D. Seguist and Eric C. Schneider, "Addressing Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care: Using Federal Data to Support Local Programs to Eliminate Disparities," Health Services Research 41 (4) (2006): 1451-1468, available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC1797089/.
- 41 Quyen Ngo-Metzger and others, "Cultural Competency and Quality of Care: Obtaining the Patient's Perspective" (New York: The Commonwealth Fund, 2006), available at http://www.commonwealthfund. org/usr\_doc/Ngo-Metzger\_cultcompqualitycareobtainpatientperspect\_963.pdf.

- 42 Meredith Minkler and others, "Community-Based Participatory Research: Implications for Public Health Funding," American Journal of Public Health 93 (8) (2003): 1210-1213, available at http://ajph. aphapublications.org/cgi/content/full/93/8/1210.
- 43 Christopher J. Mansfield and James L. Wilson, "Community-Level Data," North Carolina Med Journal. 69 (2) (2008): 142-145, available at http://www.ecu.edu/cs-dhs/chsrd/Pubs/upload/Communit-Level-
- 44 Lisa A. Cooper, Martha N. Hill, and Neil R. Powe, "Designing and Evaluating Interventions to Eliminate Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care," Journal of General Internal Medicine 17 (6) (2002): 477-486, available at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/ j.1525-1497.2002.10633.x/pdf.
- 45 "About OMH The Office of Minority Health," available at http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/templates/browse.aspx?lvl=1&lvlID=7.
- 46 National Institutes of Health, "NIH announces Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities," News release, September 27, 2010. available at http://www.nih.gov/news/health/sep2010/nimhd-27.
- 47 For further information, see: "OMB Standards for Data on Race and Ethnicity," available at http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/templates/ browse.aspx?lvl=2&lvlID=172.
- 48 Joseph Waksberg, Daniel Levine, and David Marker, "Assessment of Major Federal Data Sets for Analyses of Hispanic and Asian or Pacific Islander Subgroups and Native Americans: Extending the Utility of Federal Data Bases" (Rockville, MD: Westat, Inc., 2000), available at http://aspe. hhs.gov/hsp/minority-db00/task3/section1.htm#1.3.

#### About the author

Lesley Russel, B.Sc. (Hons.), B.A., Ph.D., is a Visiting Fellow at the Center for American Progress and a visiting professor at the department of health policy at George Washington University. She is a research associate at both the Menzies Centre for Health Policy and the U.S. Studies Centre at the University of Sydney. The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

Center for American Progress